STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
)

COUNTY OF }

ABBEVILLE
STATE INDICTMENT/CASE®: 2013 -GS- 01 - 00174
VS,
Charlie Eugene Tiilman ANVHE: 1-781129
AKA: Date of Offense: April _15-16, 2012
Race: _Biack Sex: Mala Age: _58 S.C. Code § 186-3-1040(A)

DOB:  _g2/06/1958 CDR Code#: 0541

Address: 103 Broadwell Avenue

P St N S S N gt

City, State, Zip: cagun Falls, SC 29528 SENTENCE SHEET
* SID# $C00265237
“CDL Yes LI No [7] CMV Yes [ No [Z] Hazmat Yes One
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was 0 CONVICTED OF or PLEADS
TO: Threat/ Threalening fife, person or family of public official, teacher, principal
In violation of § 16-03-1040 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing COR Code# 0541
[ NON-viOLENT [ VIOLENT [J SERIOUS [J MOSTSERIOUS [ Mandatory GPS [0 §17-25-45
{CSC wiminor 1% or Lewd Act)
The charge is Asindicted,  [] Lesser Included Offense, Defendant Waives Presentment to Grand Jury. {get's initials)
The plea is: Without Negoliations or Recommendation, Nagotisied Sentence, E Recommaendation by the Siaie.
! ) 71676 ﬁ ) f WA/ SN~/ 1495
Al SC Bar#” i)efeﬂdani Attorngy for Defendant SC Bar#
WHEREFOF{E the Defendant is committed to the State Department of Corrections [ County Detention Center,
for a determinate term of 5 é&yﬁ#ﬂemh M [J under the Youthful Offeﬁder ctn ceed years
andfor to pay a fine of ; provided that Upon the service of (ene @m@r&h&e@s and or pafnent
of $ I : plus costs and assessments as applicable®; the balance is suspended with probationfor Aﬂ&

amﬂmhnd subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of probation, wifich are

incorporated by reference.
] CONCURRENTor [ CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:
he Defendant is to be given credit for 2me Ze?ed pursyant to S.C Q“de §24 -13-40 to be calculated and applied by the State

Department of Corrections.
[T] The Defendant is to be placed on Ceritral Registry of Chfki/Abuse and Neg ect pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-135.
Pursuantto 18 U.S.C. Section 822, itis unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal
Domestic Violence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearm or ammunition.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[ RESTITUTION: [J Deferred [] Def. Waives Hearing [] Ordered PTUP 7‘%.5 S 13 - 135
Total & plus 20% fee: $ days/hours Public Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED [
[J Setby SCDOPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. Or Job Corp.
May serve W/E beginning

Recipiant: Substance Abuse Counseling 0
*Fine: % Random Drug/Alcohol Testing [}
§14-1-206 (Assessments 107.5%) % ] Firne may be pd. in equal conseculive weekiy/monthly
§14-1-211 (A)(1){Conv. Surcharge) $100 $ IBb. /Y pmts. of $ ; Beginning
§14-1-211 (AH2Y{ DUl Surcharge) 3100 $ % Paid to Public Defender Fund
§56-5-2995 (DUl Assessment) $12 kS
§56-1-286 (DUl Breath Test) $25 k> S
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob) $500 $
§14-1-212 {Law Enforce. Funding) $25 $ ol o
§14-1-213 (Drug Court Surcharge) $150 &
§50-21-114 (BUI Breath Test Fee) $50 §
856-5-2942({J) (Vehicle Assessment) $40/iea 3 .
Proviso 90.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) 35 $ O InJ ;
3% to County {if paid in instaliments) % . during probation
TOTAL % oA

> Prasiding Judge '
Clerk of Court/Deputy Cle };) A M (\ﬁ W @i\gﬁl Judge Code; Y D58
Court Reporter: g\/ N A L L Sentence Date Ty 4%, dold

(9 -

SCCA/Z1T (0312011




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

COUNTY OF )
ABBEVILLE
STATE INDICTMENT/CASE# 2018 -6S- 01 -00175
Vs,
-Lhadie Eugane Tillman AW 71033 FR
AKA: Date of Offense: April 1518, 2012
Race:  Black  Sex male Age. _58 $.C. Code §: 56-05-2930

DOB: _paos/1856 CDR Code #: 3353

Address: 163 Brosdwell Avenue
City, State, 2ip: cahoun Falls, SC 29628
v SIDb# $C00265237
*COL Yes [ No [} CMV ves [ No [7] Hazmat Yes [ No
In disposition of the said indictment comes now the Defendant who was

TO: DULY Driving under the Influence, 1st Offense

%
|

it S s S Mo St ot S

SENTENCE SHEET

[0 CONVICTED OF or ﬁ PLEADS

n violation of § 56-05-2930 of the S.C. Code of Laws, bearing COR Code# 3353
NON-VICLENT  [J VIOLENT [ SERIOUS [J mMOsTSERIOUS [ Mandatory GPS [ §17-25-45
(CSC wiminor 1% or Lewd Act)
The charge is; As indicted, Lesser Included Offense, Defendant Waives Presentmem to Grand Jury. {def.'s initials)
The plea is: Without Negotiati cms of Remmﬁ ation, Négﬂii ted Sentence, Recom by thef State.
A D edaN) A, 7178 I@AW /;,z M Jﬂ 267§V
Ass{stERt A mmay Ceneral SC Bar# Defendan for D&fendam SC Bar#
WHEREFORE, the Defendant is commilteddo the [ ] State Department of Corrections County Detention Center,
fora determinate term of / daysipfonthsfyears or - []  under the Youthful Offender Act not to exceed years
and/or to pay a fine of § % vided that upon the service of days/monthsiyears and or payment

of $ » plus costs and assessments as applicable”; the balance is suspended with probation for

months/years and subject to South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services standard conditions of probation, which are

incorporated by reference.

] NCURRENT or [] CONSECUTIVE to sentence on:
The Defendant is to be given credit for me sejved urs antto S C. Code §24«13.40 to be calculated and applied by the State
Department of Corrections. w

[} The Defendant is to be piaced on Cerfral Registry of Abus nd Negl ect pursuant to 8.C. Code §17-25-135.

Pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 822, it is unlawful for a person convicted of a violation of Section 16-25-20 or 16-25-65 (Criminal

Domestic Viclence) to ship, transport, possess, or receive a firearm or ammunition,

SPECIAL CONDITIONS:
[J RESTITUTION: [[] Deferred [] Def Waives Hearing [} Ordered PTUP
Total: $§ plus 20% fee: $ L/é/ <42 ublic Service Employment
Payment Terms: Obtain GED [
[0 setby SCOPPPS Attend Voc. Rehab. Or Job Corp.
May serve W/E beginning
Recipient. Substance Abuse Counseling 3
*Fine: $ Random Drug/Alcohol Testing [
§14-1-206 {Assessments 107.5%) $ Fine may be pd. in equal conseculive weekiyimonthly
§14-1-211 (A1} Conv. Surcharge) $100 § /8 aié;f pmis. of § Beginning i
§14-1-211 (A} 2} DU Surcharge) 3100 § 4 1 $ Paid to Pubfic Defender Fund
£56-5-2985 (DUI Assessment) $12 3
§58-1-288 (DU Breath Test) 528 5 Othar:
Proviso 47.9 (Public Def/Prob)} $500 $
§14-1-212 (Law Enforce. Funding) $25 3
§14-1-213 {Drug Court Surcharge} $150 3 _
£50-71-114 (BUI Breath Tes!{ Feg) $50 3 o
§56-5-2842(J} {Vehicle Assessment) $40/ea $ - ) 1 Appointed PD or appointed other counsel,
Proviso 80.5 (SCCJA Surcharge) 35 $ D §47.12 requires $500 & paid to Glark
3% to County {if paid In installments) 3 during probation.
TOTAL (} 3 éj g Z § j@ 7
. $ {, Presiding jmﬁge

Clark of CourtDeputy 9?3’} M& “Yiag & AN iz\‘ﬂﬁj Judge Code:
Sentence Date M@? a9 ‘—§

Court Repodern:

SCCOAZTT (0372011}
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) IN THE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

COUNTY OF ABBEVILLE )

INDICTMENT

!‘

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on Mgé ZQKSZOBﬂ%e Grand Jurors of Abbeville

County present upon their oath:

THREATENING THE LIFE OF A PUBLIC OFFICIAL

That Charlie Eugene Tillman did in Abbeville County on or about April 16, 2012, commit
the crime of Threatening the Life of a Public Official, to wit: he knowingly and willfully did
deliver to Joshua Eppes, a public official of the Town of Calhoun Falls Police Department,
a verbal communication in which the Defendant threatened the life of and/or threatened to
inflict bodily harm upon Officer Eppes. This was done in violation of §16-3-1040(A), of

the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976 as amended.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case made

and provided.

ﬁ?@m)b\] N/,

ALAN WILSON/ AAM
SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) INTHE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

COUNTY OF ABBEVILLE )

INDICTMENT
A

At a Court of General Sessions, convened on ,_b_(gg 2‘(‘ 20! éthfe Grand Jurors of Abbeville

County present upon their oath:

DRIVING VEHICLE WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE

OF ALCOHOL AND/OR DRUGS

That Charlie Eugene Tillman did in Abbeville County on or about April 16, 2012, drive a
motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating alcohol, and/or liquors, and/or
narcotic drugs, which materially and appreciably impaired his ability to operate a motor
vehicle. In violation of §56-5-2930 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, (1976) as

amended.

Against the peace and dignity of the State, and contrary to the statute in such case made

and provided.

ALAN WILSON/ AAM
SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL




